
    Cause Nr.: ______________________ 
 
JENNIFER RICHIE,    S IN THE DISTRICT COURT 
Plaintiff     S 
      S 
v.      S GALVESTON COUNTY, TEXAS 
      S     
CRUISES TO NOWHERE LLC,  S 
Defendant     S __________TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
 
    PLAINTIFF'S ORIGINAL PETITION 

TO THE HONORABLE STATE DISTRICT JUDGE: 

 COMES NOW, JENNIFER RICHIE, Plaintiff, and complains of CRUISES TO 

NOWHERE, LLC, Defendant, as follows: 

      I. 

      PARTIES 

 Plaintiff Jennifer Richie is an individual residing in Galveston County, Texas. 

 Defendant Cruises to Nowhere LLC is a limited liability company which may be served 

with process through its registered agent, Michael Radigan, 2200 E. Highway 361, Aransas Pass, 

Texas 78336. 

      II. 

      VENUE 

 Venue of this action is proper in Galveston County, Texas because the parties to this 

lawsuit transact business in Galveston County, Texas, the actions, events, and transactions which 

gave rise to the causes of action alleged herein took place in Galveston County, Texas, and the 

causes of action alleged herein also accrued in Galveston County, Texas. 

      III. 

     NATURE OF LAWSUIT 

 This is a lawsuit involving employment discrimination, sexual harassment, and retaliation 

and is brought pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 USC 

Section 2000e et seq. 

19-CV-2125

Galveston County - 56th District Court

Status Conference set for 02-06-2020 s/c emailed to atty by vym

Filed: 11/14/2019 8:47 PM
JOHN D. KINARD - District Clerk

Galveston County, Texas
Envelope No. 38517671

By: Valerie Millican
11/15/2019 9:40 AM



Page 2 

 Defendant Cruises to Nowhere LLC is ant is an enterprise engaged in a business affecting 

commerce, as that term is defined in 42 USC Section 2000e(b).  

 It has employed at least 15 employees for each working day in each of 20 or more 

calendar weeks in the current or preceding calendar year and, therefore, is an "employer" within 

the meaning of 42 USC Section 2000e(b).  

      IV. 

      FACTS 

  
 Plaintiff is a White female. Defendant is a cruise liner operating gambling boats in the 

Gulf of Mexico. Its main offices are in California, but, at all times relevant to this lawsuit, it also 

had an office in Galveston, Texas from where it operated a number of gambling boats in the Gulf 

of Mexico. Defendant employed the Plaintiff from June 22, 2017 to the end of July 2017 when it 

took her off the schedule indefinitely after she complained about sexual harassment. 

 Defendant employed the Plaintiff as a food runner in its gambling casinos. Defendant's 

boats anchored outside US territorial waters in the Gulf of Mexico where customers gambled. As 

a food runner, Plaintiff prepared and served food to customers. Her immediate supervisor was 

the Executive Chef. He sexually harassed the Plaintiff. His name is Dwight Stephens. He was in 

charge of Plaintiff's hours and did her scheduling. He decided when and how many hours 

Plaintiff would work. 

 Defendant's Galveston office was run by Rocky Herrin, General Manager. His wife, 

Corina (LNU), also worked in the Galveston office. At one point Herrin told the Plaintiff his 

wife was "our HR." The staff on the gambling boats consisted of dealers, bartenders, captains, 

engineers, and kitchen staff. Each boat was staffed by two (2) food runners and they both 

reported to the Executive Chef, Dwight Stephens. At any given time, the boats would have up to 
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300 persons on board, including staff. The vast majority were customers. 

 The sexual harassment started immediately after Plaintiff was hired. Throughout her 

employment Stephens made sexual comments to the Plaintiff and requested she give him close 

hugs so that her body would touch his. He insisted to come to Plaintiff's house to cook and have 

sex with her. Plaintiff told him no. He is married. Nevertheless, Stephens kept on asking the 

Plaintiff to allow him to come to her house for dinner and sex. He also introduced the Plaintiff to 

his child as her "step mother." Plaintiff kept on refusing Stephens' sexual advances. At that point 

he cut the Plaintiff off completely. He took her off the schedule and stopped giving her any 

hours. He claimed business was slow, but that was not true. Anytime the boat had at least 200 

customers there have to be at least two (2) food runners on the boat to assist the customers. He 

continued to assign hours to the other food runner, Kayle, whom he did not sexually harass. 

 In early August, 2017, Plaintiff started complaining to Herrin about the sexual 

harassment. He took Plaintiff's complaints lightly. He told her to talk with Corina, "our HR" 

person in the Galveston office. Plaintiff did so, but she kept on putting Plaintiff off, telling her 

she was not in the office. In fact, Plaintiff was supposed to see her on a Monday, but she texted 

the Plaintiff that she would be out for days during that week. In the meanwhile, Plaintiff kept on 

texting Herrin, telling him she needed to be put back on schedule as soon as possible because she 

had bills to pay and needed income. All of Plaintiff's concerns fell on deaf ears.  

 Defendant never put the Plaintiff back to work, thereby effectively terminating her 

employment. She was never put back to work starting with the weekend of July 22, 2017. 

 Stephens did not deny the sexual harassment. In an exchange of text messages with 

Plaintiff's male friend, he stated that "we were all playing around it ok." Plaintiff did not play 
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around. She had no sexual interest in Stephens. 

 Following these events, Plaintiff timely filed a complaint of sexual harassment and sex 

discrimination, as well as retaliation, against the Defendant with the Equal Employment 

Commission and the Texas Commission on Human Rights. The complaint was filed on August 

17, 2017. 

 The EEOC investigated Plaintiff's EEOC complained and determined that Defendant 

subjected Plaintiff to sexual harassment, a hostile work environment, and retaliation. On August 

15, 2019 it issued a formal determination. 

 On August 20, 2019 the EEOC issued the Plaintiff a right to sue thereby allowing her to 

sue Defendant in court. Plaintiff filed this action within ninety (90) days of her receipt of the 

right to sue. 

      V. 

 
  PLAINTIFF'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR SEXUAL DISCRIMINATION 

 Plaintiff realleges the factual allegations set forth above and would show that Defendant 

is liable to her for sexual discrimination under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as 

amended, 42 USC Section 2000e et seq. At all times relevant to this lawsuit Plaintiff was, on 

account of her sex, female, a member of a protected class. Defendant treated the Plaintiff less 

favorably in the terms and conditions of her employment than its similarly situated male 

employees because of her sex, female. This discrimination is the proximate cause of both 

economic and mental damages suffered by the Plaintiff. 

 Plaintiff would further show that Defendant is also liable to her for sexual discrimination 

in that she was the victim of a hostile work environment. On account of her sex, female, Plaintiff 

was, at all relevant times, a member of a protected group. Plaintiff was subjected to unwelcomed  
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sexual harassment, the harassment was on account of her sex, the sexual harassment was severe 

and pervasive, and it adversely affected the terms and conditions of her employment. 

Furthermore, Defendant was, or should have been aware of the sexual harassment to which 

Plaintiff was subjected and the hostile work environment in which she worked, but took no 

preventive, prompt, or effective remedial action.  

 Plaintiff was additionally subjected to quid pro quo sexual harassment. 

 As a proximate result of the sexual discrimination and harassment to which she was  

subjected, Plaintiff suffered extensive economic and mental damages. 

 Plaintiff satisfied all jurisdictional and procedural prerequisites for bringing this cause of 

action. 

      VI. 
 
  PLAINTIFF'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR RETALIATION    

 Plaintiff further realleges the factual allegations set forth above and would show that 

Defendant is further liable to her for unlawful retaliation under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964, as amended, 42 USC Section 2000e et seq. Once Plaintiff complained about the sexual 

harassment she became a member of a protected class protected from retaliation by the law. 

Defendant treated Plaintiff less favorably in the terms and conditions of her employment because 

she opposed unlawful discrimination, and retaliated against her by failing to prevent the sexual 

harassment, and adversely impacting the terms and conditions of her employment. Plaintiff's 

employment was terminated. 

 The retaliation against the Plaintiff is the proximate cause of both economic and mental  

damages suffered by the Plaintiff. 

 Plaintiff satisfied all jurisdictional and procedural prerequisites for bringing this cause of 

action. 

      VII. 



Page 6 

      DAMAGES 

 Plaintiff is now suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable injury and monetary  

damages as a result of the Defendant's discriminatory practices unless and until this court grants 

relief. Furthermore, Plaintiff would show that Defendant's actions against the Plaintiff were 

perpetrated with malice or with reckless disregard for her rights. As such, Plaintiff moves the 

court to allow exemplary damages on each count. 

      VIII. 

     CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 

 Pursuant to Rule 54 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure all conditions precedent to 

Plaintiff's right to recover damages against the Defendant have occurred or have been performed. 

      IX. 

     ATTORNEY'S FEES 

 Defendant's refusal to abide by its obligations has made it necessary for Plaintiff to 

employ the undersigned attorney to file this lawsuit. As such, Plaintiff requests this court to 

award a reasonable fee for the attorney's services rendered and to be rendered herein under both 

customary and statutory law. 

      X. 

     JURY REQUEST 

 Plaintiff requests a trial by jury and tenders the jury fee. 

      XI. 

     PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Plaintiff Jennifer Richie prays that 

Defendant Cruises to Nowhere LLC be cited to appear and answer, and that on final trial 

Plaintiff be granted relief as follows: 

 1. Judgment declaring that the acts and practices described herein violate  

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 USC Section 2000e et seq.; 
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 2. Judgment enjoining and permanently restraining these violations; 

 3. Judgment directing Defendant to pay Plaintiff actual, compensatory, liquidated, 

and punitive damages on all counts, whether statutory or common law; 

 4. Costs of suit and reasonable attorney's fees; 

 5. Prejudgment and postjudgment interest as provided by law; 

 6. Such other and further relief, in law and in equity, to which Plaintiff may be justly  

entitled. 

     Respectfully submitted, 
 
     BY: //ss// peter costea 
     _________________________________ 
     Peter Costea 
     TBN 04855900 
     4544 Post Oak Place, Suite 350 
     Houston, Texas 77027 
     Tel. 713-337-4304 
     Fax 713-237-0401 
     Email: peter@costealaw.com 
     ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF 
     JENNIFER RICHIE 
 
 
 


